IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JORGE GARCIA, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No. SC03-1677

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent. :

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CAROL J. Y. WILSON Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0368512

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Jorge Garcia was charged with trafficking in methamphetamine, driving under the influence of alcoholic beverages and obstructing or resisting an officer without violence, offenses dated June 9, 2001. (R22-23). A jury trial was held before Judge Maynard F. Swanson, Jr. on December 11, 2001 in Pasco County. (T1).

Deputy Joseph Irizarry of the Pasco County Sheriff's Department testified that he stopped Mr. Garcia at around 3 a.m. on June 9, 2001 for erratic driving. (T28). The deputy then decided to pull Mr. Garcia over after following him for an estimated quarter of a mile. (T31-32, 61). Mr. Garcia pulled over promptly and safely and was polite and respectful toward the officer. (T62).

The deputy pulled in behind Mr. Garcia's truck and walked up to the driver's side. (T32-33). Mr. Garcia opened the window and the deputy smelled alcohol and saw that Mr. Garcia's eyes were bloodshot. (T33). Mr. Garcia had a cooperative attitude. (T34). The deputy asked Mr. Garcia for his driver's license and registration, which Mr. Garcia handed over. (T35). The deputy asked Mr. Garcia if he had been drinking and Mr. Garcia told him he had had three beers during the evening. (T36). The deputy asked Mr. Garcia to get out of the truck, and Mr. Garcia had an unsteady balance. (T36-37).

Because of the driving, the odor of alcohol, the bloodshot eyes, and the slurred speech, the deputy asked Mr.

Garcia to take field sobriety tests. (T38). While Mr. Garcia was taking these tests, Deputy Wilkins arrived. (T49, 101-102). After observing the field sobriety tests, Deputy Irizarry decided to arrest Mr. Garcia for DUI. (T44). Deputy Bunner arrived as Mr. Garcia was being placed under arrest. (T130).

Deputy Irizarry and Deputy Wilkins began to search Mr. Garcia's truck. (T48-49). Deputy Irizarry thought the truck looked very clean. (T50). Deputy Irizarry did not find anything during the search. (T49-50). Deputy Wilkins went to the passenger side and found something in the car. (T76). Deputy Irizarry was at his police car when Deputy Wilkins handed the object to Deputy Bunner who brought it to Irizarry. (T80). None of the officers knew what the item was or that it contained drugs. (T80). Deputy Irizarry did not notice the object Deputy Wilkins took out of the vehicle until it was already removed from the truck. (T49). The object looked like a softball wrapped in black electric tape. (T50, 83). Deputy Irizarry could not tell what the object was simply by looking at it. (T50). Deputy Irizarry placed the object found in the truck into evidence. (T54). After the black taped ball was found to contain suspected drugs, Deputy Irizarry asked FDLE to process the wrapper for latent fingerprints. (T55).

Deputy Irizarry asked Mr. Garcia what the object in the truck was, and Mr. Garcia told him he did not know. (T84). Mr. Garcia told the police he had not seen the object before,

and he did not know how it got in the truck. (T84). Deputy Irizarry recalled Mr. Garcia telling him that the truck had been recently stolen and that some friends had been in his truck earlier that night. (T84).

Deputy Wilkins testified that he helped search the truck after Mr. Garcia was arrested. (T105). The truck was clean and well kept. (T110). First he looked at the driver's side and saw nothing. (T105-106). Next he searched the passenger side and on the left hand side under the seat saw a black ball. (T106-107). The deputy testified that the object found was not wedged under the seat, but could roll around. (T112). Deputy Wilkins said he was wearing latex gloves when he picked up the ball. (T107). Deputy Wilkins did not fingerprint the ball, because he did not suspect it to be anything illegal. (T108). Deputy Wilkins handed the ball to Deputy Bunner who took it to Deputy Irizarry as he stood back by his patrol car. (T108-109).

Deputy Wilkins saw Deputy Bunner unwrap the black-colored tape, but did not pay attention while Deputy Bunner was unwrapping the tape. (T109). Deputy Wilkins did not remember any pictures being taken at the scene. (T111).

Deputy Steven Bunner arrived at the scene in time to see Deputy Irizarry arresting Mr. Garcia. (T130, 146). Deputy Bunner saw Deputy Wilkins take a black taped object out of the truck. (T133). Deputy Bunner did not remember Deputy Wilkins wearing gloves when he searched the truck. (T133). Deputy

Wilkins asked Deputy Bunner if he knew what the object might be and Deputy Bunner said he had no idea. (T134). The ball was hard, but not rock hard. (T134). Deputy Bunner started unraveling the tape and letting it fall on the patrol car trunk. (T135). Underneath the tape was blue cellophane. (T136). Underneath the blue cellophane was something that looked like a white rock wrapped in cellophane. (T136). Deputy Bunner did not process the object for fingerprints, because he did not know what the object was. (T137). There was no loose powder found in the truck. (T153). Deputy Bunner knew of no evidence indicating Mr. Garcia put the object in the truck. (T153). The deputies had cameras, but Deputy Bunner cannot recall if anyone took any pictures. (T154-155).

Roberta Case worked as a crime scene technician on June 2, 2001, and processed the same truck that Mr. Garcia was driving when he was arrested. (T157-158, 183-184). The truck was photographed and processed for fingerprints because it had been stolen. (T158-161). Ms. Case stated that as a habit she looks thoroughly through the interior of a vehicle she processes and documents in her report the items found. (T163). At the time she inventoried the truck Mr. Garcia had driven, she did not find a softball-sized ball under the passenger seat.(T163). She did find many items cluttered inside the truck and in the truck bed. (T160-163). Inside the truck there were Styrofoam packing peanuts, a CD case, a blue

bandanna, a CD player, miscellaneous papers, a tape measure, power tools, stereo and audio components, and a broken videotape amid the debris.(T160-161). The truck was released on June 4, 2001. (T164).

Crime scene technician William Joseph processed a blue wrapper with black electrical tape for fingerprints, but found no latent fingerprints of value. (T177-178).

The defense moved in limine to exclude testimony of the street value of the seized methamphetamine. (T173). The trial court granted the motion and ruled, "the value of the contraband is, on this prosecution, irrelevant." (T175).

The state rested and the defense moved for a judgment of acquittal for the drug trafficking count. The motion was based on the grounds that the state had failed to prove Mr. Garcia knew the object was in his truck or that he knew what was inside the object. (T184-185). The state opposed the motion, and the trial court denied it. (T187).

Mr. Garcia took the stand in his defense. (T190). He testified that he was 29 years old and lived in Dade City with his sister. (T190-191). Mr. Garcia worked at various jobs, including construction, picking oranges, and at landscaping. (T191). He has a ninth grade education obtained in Mexico. (T191).

On June 9, 2001, Mr. Garcia worked picking oranges until 4:00 p.m. (T192). At around 7 p.m. he went to a get-together with some friends for about eight hours. (T193). His truck

was at the party and was used for playing CDs and to go with friends to buy beer. (T193-194). About 15-20 people were at the party. (T194). During two rides to the store people rode in the truck with him. (T195).

Mr. Garcia denied using drugs. (T195).

He did not put the taped ball in the truck or see it that night. (T195). He did not know the taped ball was in the truck. (T195).

After the DUI arrest the police started searching the truck. (T206). The police asked Mr. Garcia about the ball. (T207). Mr. Garcia told them he did not know anything about the object. (T207). The truck had been stolen from a shop in Lakeland on May 31, a Wednesday. (T207). Mr. Garcia next saw the truck the following Monday. (T208). The truck was dirty and had items in it that did not belong to Mr. Garcia, including a scooter, a cell phone, a tape measure, and lots of tools and debris. (T209-211, 216). Mr. Garcia took the truck back to the shop to have a stereo put in, and the truck was cleaned, with all the items not belonging to him removed, when he picked it up. (T210-211, 216). Mr. Garcia presented pictures of the truck showing that there is a hump under the passenger seat that obscures the view one from looking under it, and that from the passenger seat front, only the seat front is visible. (T212-213).

The defense rested and renewed its motion for judgment of acquittal for the trafficking in methamphetamine charge.

(T222, 229-231, 233-237). The trial court, in denying the motion, stated, "Well, I must admit, I think that the proof of any possession of the contents is certainly close to nonexistent, but I'm also persuaded by the -- I have to -- I am going to deny the motion. I think it's a very weak argument, but I think it's got to be a jury question." (T237).

A charge conference was then held. (T238). During the conference the defense requested that instructions be given for the trafficking charge. (T238-245). The trial court decided to give the standard jury instructions and rejected the defense special instructions. (T245-246). defense objected to the reading of the standard The instructions for the trafficking charge. (T243-245). The grounds for the objection were that the instructions permit the jury to infer or assume knowledge of the presence of methamphetamine based on exclusive possession of the container of the drug. The instructions then violate due process by relieving the state of its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. (T243-244). Because the instruction allows the fact finder to assume, or take as true, the element of knowledge, the instruction sets forth a mandatory presumption which allows an element to be considered proved without requiring the presentation of evidence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. (T244). Additionally the instruction shifts the burden to the accused to prove he did not know of the presence of the drug. (T244-245).

The trial court read the standard instructions from his book, and did not hand out written instructions to counsel or to the jury. (T248).

During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Garcia knew the drugs were in the truck because he was the only person in the truck and that the jury could assume or infer he knew the taped ball contained methamphetamine from Mr. Garcia's exclusive possession of the truck. (T255-256). The prosecutor told the jury point blank, "The defense knew it was there because he put it there." (T256). She told the jury, "He knew that he had that piece of methamphetamine in his truck because he put it there. He knew it was there. Knowledge of the existence of the tape-bound ball can be Knowledge of its contents can be gleaned form the facts you heard." (T258). The prosecutor told the jury that "Common sense tells you -- and you're allowed to use common sense back there -- that this chunk has a high value to some people." (T256). She told the jury "a person would not leave 220 grams worth its weight in gold in your vehicle." (T257).

After the prosecution had completed its initial closing statement, the defense at sidebar objected to the state's comments to the jury. (T262-263). The defense objected to the state telling the jury Mr. Garcia knew the object was in his vehicle and contained drugs without pointing to any evidence

showing that. (T262). Additionally the defense objected to the state telling the jury the drugs were worth its weight in gold when the trial court had precluded the state from presenting evidence of the value of the drugs. (T175, 262-263). The trial court overruled the objection. (T263).

In the final closing argument to the jury the prosecutor stated, "The defendant testified that he's a fruit picker and a sometime-construction-worker, the owner and driver of this 2000 Ford F---. " (T292). At this point the defense objected on the grounds that there was no evidence about the value of the truck and the improper inference the prosecutor was making about Mr. Garcia not being able to afford the vehicle in his line of work. (T292-293). The trial court decided to instruct the jury not to rely on comments by counsel that were not supported by the evidence, but did not specify what comments it was referring to. (T294). The prosecutor then repeated, "The defendant testified that he's a fruit picker, a sometimeconstruction-worker, the owner-driver of this Ford truck." (T294). The defense objected and the trial court overruled the objection. (T294). So the prosecutor continued, stating, "Ford F150, Harley Davidson Special with a new stereo installed." (T294). The defense again objected that these comments were misleading the jury and the trial court overruled the objection. (T295). The prosecutor then stated, "He knew that this piece of methamphetamine was in the black ball. He knew -- [Defense objection] where the black ball

was." (T295). The defense stated, "There was no testimony to establish that. She's acting like she knows that." (T295). The trial court sustained that objection and instructed the jury that "Personal opinions as to the evidence by either counsel is not for the jury to consider." (T295).

Later in the final closing argument, the prosecution again told the jury, "The black ball -- the Judge will tell you that you can infer his knowledge of -- he's in exclusive possession of the truck. He knew this black ball is under there. It's for you to decide if he knew what was in the black ball. He was in possession of in excess of 28 grams of methamphetamines -- 220 grams, actually." (T296).

The trial court instructed the jury as follows concerning the elements of the trafficking in methamphetamine charge:

Now, before you can find the defendant guilty of trafficking in methamphetamine, the State has to prove four elements, each of which must be proven beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt. These are:

First, the defendant knowingly possessed a certain substance.

And that substance was methamphetamine or a mixture containing methamphetamine.

And the quantity of the substance involved was 28 grams or more.

And the defendant knew that the substance was methamphetamine or a mixture containing methamphetamine.

Those are the four elements that must be proven.

(T300). The trial court then instructed the jury on the following definition of possession:

Possession may be actual or it may be constructive.

Actual construction [sic] means that the thing is in the hand of or on the person, or the thing is in a container in the hand of or on the person, or the thing is so close as to be within ready reach and is under the control of the person.

Mere proximity to a think is not sufficient to establish control over that thing when the thing is not in a place over which a person has control.

Constructive possession means the thing is in a place over which the person has control or in which the person has concealed it. If a thing is in a place over which the person does not have control, in order to establish constructive possession, the State must prove the person has control over the thing, knowledge of the thing which was in the person's presence, and the knowledge of the illicit nature of the thing.

If a person has exclusive nature -exclusive possession -- of a thing,
knowledge of its presence may be inferred
or assumed. If a person does not have
exclusive possession of a thing, knowledge
of its presence may not be inferred or
assumed.

(T300-301).

The trial court instructed the jury as follows concerning the elements of the lesser-included offense of possession of methamphetamine:

Before you can find the defendant guilty of possession of methamphetamine, the State has to prove three elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

The defendant possessed the substance.

And the substance was or was a mixture containing methamphetamine.

And the defendant had knowledge of the presence of the substance.

And, again, the same definition of possession, both constructive as well as actual construction [sic], applies to the lesser charge as it did to the greater charge.

(T302-303).

At the close of the instructions the defense renewed its objections to the reading of the instructions for trafficking in methamphetamine and possession of methamphetamine. (T316).

During deliberations, the jury asked the following question:

"What is the difference between trafficking and possession of methamphetamine?" (T317). After consulting with counsel, the trial court decided to read the jury the elements of the two offenses. (T318-319). The defense renewed its objection to the original instructions given for the crimes. (T319). The trial court then told the jury the following:

I will -- what I am going to read to you is the elements of each offense and

then, frankly, you're going to have to decide for yourself what the difference is.

All right. Possession of methamphetamine. Certain drugs and chemical substances are by law known as controlled substances. Methamphetamine is a controlled substance.

Before you can find the defendant guilty of the possession of methamphetamine, the State must prove three elements, each of which must be proven beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt.

One, the defendant possessed a certain substance.

The substance was methamphetamine.

And the defendant had knowledge of the presence of the substance.

That is the possession of methamphetamine.

Trafficking in methamphetamine.

Certain drugs and chemical substances are by law known as controlled substances. Methamphetamine or any mixture containing methamphetamine is a controlled substance.

Before you can find the defendant guilty of trafficking in methamphetamine, the State must prove four elements, each of which must be proven beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt. There are:

First, the defendant knowingly possessed a certain substance.

That substance was methamphetamine or a mixture containing methamphetamine.

The quantity of that substance involved was 28 grams or more.

And the defendant knew that this substance was methamphetamine or a mixture containing methamphetamine.

(T321). The defense again objected to the contents of the instructions given the jury. (T321). On December 12, 2001, the jury then returned verdicts of guilty of possession of methamphetamine and driving under the influence of alcohol,

and not guilty of resisting arrest without violence. (R50-52, T322).

On December 20, 2001, Appellant filed a motion for new trial and a motion for renewed judgment of acquittal, stating the trial court had erred in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal for the drug charge when guilty knowledge was not proved by any evidence. (R57, 59-60). The motion also stated the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that the state had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Garcia had knowledge that the item possessed was methamphetamine. (R54-58). The defense argued that the elements of possession of methamphetamine and trafficking in methamphetamine in this case should differ only as to the weight requirement of the possessed drug, but that the jury instructions as given contain a requirement of knowledge that the substance was methamphetamine for the trafficking crime, but requirement for the possession charge. (T56). The motion also stated the prosecution had presented improper arguments to the jury when it told the jury Mr. Garcia knew the its weight in gold, despite a complete lack of evidence supporting these arguments. (R57-58). The defense also filed a separate Motion for Renewal of Motion for Judgment of Acquittal concerning the drug possession count. (R59-60). The trial court denied the motions, adjudicated Mr. Garcia, and sentenced him to one year of community control. (R67-68, 71, 90-91).

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