IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JORGE GARCIA,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC No. SC03-1677 Lower Ct. No. 2D02-874

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____/

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Chief-Assistant Attorney General
Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals
Florida Bar No. 0238538

JOHN M. KLAWIKOFSKY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0930997
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
(813) 287-0600
Fax (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

If a thing is in a place over which the person does not have control, in order to establish constructive possession, the State must prove the person has control over the thing, knowledge of the thing which was in the person's presence, and the knowledge of the illicit nature of the thing.

Garcia, 854 So. 2d at 765. However, no such instruction regarding guilty knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance was requested or given on the lesser included possession for which Petitioner was ultimately convicted. The possession instruction omitted any reference to the requirement that the defendant have knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance.

The Second District determined Garcia did not preserve this

issue for appeal. This Court in <u>Chicone</u> stated that "the existing jury instructions are adequate in requiring 'knowledge of the presence of the substance' "but that the "trial court should expressly indicate to jurors that guilty knowledge means the defendant must have knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance allegedly possessed" when "specifically requested by a defendant." <u>Chicone</u>, 684 So. 2d at 745-46. (Emphasis added). Therefore, there was no preserved error, and the Second District next determined whether such failure to instruct the jury constituted fundamental error.

In <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991), this Court addressed when an unpreserved error in failing to give proper instructions concerning the elements of the crime will constitute fundamental error. This Court held that "the failure to give a proper instruction concerning a particular element of the crime charged is a fundamental error only if the element was disputed at trial: "Failing to instruct on an element of the crime over which the record reflects there was no dispute is not fundamental error, and there must be an objection to preserve the issue for appeal." <u>Id</u>. at 645.

The facts in <u>Delva</u> are similar to the instant case. In <u>Delva</u>, a package of cocaine was discovered under the front seat of the car Delva was driving. The defense theory was that he

did not know the package of cocaine was in the car. Delva presented testimony that the car was jointly owned by himself and his fiancee, and the two of them as well as his brother all drove the car. He further presented testimony that his brother drove the car on the day of the arrest. "There was no suggestion that Delva was arguing that while he knew of the existence of the package he did not know what it contained." Id. Because knowledge that the substance in the package was cocaine was not at issue as a defense, the failure to instruct the jury on that element of the crime was not fundamental error. Id. The Second District accordingly held:

The parallels between Delva and the case review are striking. Like under defendant in Delva, Garcia's "defense was that he did not know the package of [illegal drugs] was even in his [vehicle]." Delva, 575 So. 2d at 645. Like the defendant in Delva, Garcia sought to show that others had access to his vehicle and could have placed the drugs there. And in the instant case, just as in Delva, "there was no suggestion that [the defendant] was arguing that while he knew of the existence of the package [of drugs] he did not know what it contained." Id. at 645. Although Garcia did assert that did not know what was in softball-shaped item found in his vehicle, that assertion was nothing more than a statement of the logical implication of his defense based on lack of knowledge that the item existed. As in Delva, the theory of defense advanced by Garcia was not affected absence of a guilty knowledge by the instruction. Therefore, just as there was no fundamental error in Delva, there is no fundamental error here.

Garcia, 854 So. 2d at 767.

In <u>Scott v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 166 (Fla. 2002) and <u>Chicone</u>, this Court indicated that "<u>Medlin</u>1 stands for the proposition that evidence of actual, personal possession is enough to sustain a conviction. In other words, knowledge can be inferred from the fact of personal possession." <u>Scott</u>, 808 So. 2d at 171; <u>Chicone</u>, 684 So. 2d at 739.

supra, this Court further held that Scott, the "requirement that an instruction must be given [on each element of the crime] does not depend on the defense espoused." holding in Scott makes clear that "a defendant who requests an instruction concerning an element of the offense charged against him is entitled to have a proper instruction given to the jury with respect to that element of the crime, even if the defendant's theory of defense is not predicated on that particular element. Moreover, the failure to give such a requested instruction is not subject to harmless error analysis. However, Scott does not address the question of fundamental error. Since the defendant in <u>Scott</u> requested a guilty knowledge instruction, this Court did not reach the issue of

 $^{^{1}}$ "[T]he State was not required to prove knowledge or intent since both were presumed from the doing of the prohibited act." State v. Medlin, 273 So. 2d 394, 397 (Fla. 1973).

fundamental error.

This Court further held in <u>Scott</u> that the <u>Medlin</u> presumption of knowledge applies to cases of actual possession. "<u>Medlin</u> stands for the proposition that evidence of actual, personal possession is enough to sustain a conviction." <u>Scott</u>, 808 So. 2d at 171. In a footnote, this Court further held that the <u>Medlin</u> inference may be applicable to cases of exclusive constructive possession, depending on the particular facts of each case. <u>Scott</u>, 808 So. 2d at 175. The instant case is such an instance where the state proved Garcia was in exclusive constructive possession of the vehicle and the item inside of the vehicle. Therefore, the State is entitled to its <u>Medlin</u> presumption, and the knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance is not in dispute.

In <u>McMillon v. State</u>, 813 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 2002), this Court reiterated that knowledge of the illicit nature of a substance is an element of the possession charge. The trial court's failure to grant the defense request for a <u>Chicone</u> instruction was harmful error.

McMillon and Scott hold that it is reversible error to deny a defense request for a Chicone instruction when it is requested, regardless of the defense theory. However, these cases do not address when a failure to instruct on an element of

a crime is fundamental error. <u>Delva</u> addresses such a situation. When an instruction is not requested, this Court's holding in Delva controls.

Therefore, when an element is in dispute, it is fundamental error to fail to give a <u>Chicone</u> instruction. However, when the defense does not request such instruction, and knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance is not in dispute, <u>Delva</u> mandates that the defense make the trial court aware of its desire for such instruction. Therefore, when the defense does not request a <u>Chicone</u> instruction in an actual possession or exclusive constructive possession case, there is no fundamental error.

The Second District opinion points to language in <u>Scott</u> which indicates that a defense theory that the defendant was without knowledge of the presence of drugs "encompasses the argument that he was unaware of the illicit nature of the substance," <u>Scott</u>, 808 So. 2d at 171. The Second District indicated such a determination seems inconsistent with the holding of <u>Delva</u> which holds that the defendant's claim that he was unaware of the existence of the drugs does not place the guilty knowledge element at issue. <u>Garcia</u>, 854 So. 2d at 768. In <u>Lee v. State</u>, 835 So. 2d 1177, 1181(Fla. 4th DCA 2002), the Fourth District similarly notes possible conflict between the

holding of Delva and Scott.

However, in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 839 So. 2d 734, 735 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev.denied</u>, 848 So. 2d 1153(Fla. 2003), the Fourth District resolved any possible conflict between <u>Delva</u> and <u>Scott</u> due to the fact that the error in <u>Scott</u> was preserved. Similarly in the instant case, there was no preserved error with regard to the jury instruction. <u>See Reed v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 366, 370 (Fla. 2002) (applying <u>Delva's</u> "distinction regarding fundamental error between a disputed element of a crime and an element of a crime about which there is no dispute," and stating that while "all fundamental error is harmful error . . . not all harmful error is fundamental").

In Mathis v. State, 859 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), the Fourth District held that failure to give the Chicone instruction amounts to fundamental error only where guilty knowledge is an issue in the case. Davis, supra; Rhinehart v. State, 840 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev.denied, 848 So. 2d 1155(Fla. 2003)(failure to give Chicone instruction was not fundamental error where appellant did not present any evidence or argue that he did not know the illicit nature of the substance he delivered). Since Mathis's knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance was not at issue, the failure of the trial court to include the Chicone instruction did not

amount to fundamental error.

In <u>Davis</u>, 839 So. 2d at 736, the Fourth District held that the failure to give a guilty knowledge instruction was not fundamental error where "the only position taken by the defendant was that he was not the person who sold the cocaine to the informant. The Fourth District pointed out that like <u>Delva</u>, there was no suggestion that the defendant was arguing that while he knew of the existence of the package he did not know what it contained. <u>Delva</u>, 575 So. 2d at 645. The Fourth District determined a mistaken identity defense does not put all elements of the crime into dispute as to make the failure to give a <u>Chicone</u> instruction fundamental error. To require otherwise would conflict with Delva. Davis, supra.

In Lee, supra, the Fourth District again held the failure to give guilty knowledge instruction was not fundamental error in a drug possession case. Lee was driving alone in a vehicle when arrested, and marijuana was later found on the driver's side floor.

In Starling v. State, 842 So. 2d 992, 993 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) the First District held that the failure to give a guilty knowledge instruction was not fundamental error where "the only issue raised during trial was that the defendant was not the person who sold the cocaine. Similarly in Ozell v. State, 837 So. 2d 559, 560 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev.denied, 847 So. 2d

978(Fla. 2003) the Third District held there was no fundamental error in a sale of cocaine case where the defense contended both that (1) "the police officers were mistaken in their identification of the defendant" and that (2) there was a reasonable doubt concerning the defendant's guilt because officers "could not actually see" object which the alleged perpetrator handed to the individual who subsequently dropped a ziplock baggie containing cocaine.

In Johnson v. State, 833 So. 2d 252, 253 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) the Fourth District determined the failure to give a guilty knowledge instruction was fundamental error in a case where the defendant said "that he had no knowledge of the contents of the vehicle" in which illegal drugs were found, but where "both sides acknowledged that the issues were whether the defendant had control of the drugs and whether he had knowledge of the illegality of the substances. Johnson involved a defendant who was driving with a passenger. Drugs were found on both the driver's and passenger sides of the floor of the car. Therefore, there was no exclusive possession, and the error was fundamental.

Blunt v. State, 831 So. 2d 770 (Fla. $4^{\rm th}$ DCA 2002) similarly held the failure to give a guilty knowledge instruction was fundamental error where the defendant denied knowledge of the

existence of a pill bottle and the crack cocaine. However, the facts of <u>Blunt</u> indicate the defendant would walk to a garbage dumpster across the parking lot each time a person approached. Blunt would then pick up a pill bottle located on the ground next to the dumpster, remove an item, place the pill bottle back and walk back to the person. The material inside the pill bottle contained crack cocaine. However, there was no exclusive constructive possession in <u>Blunt</u>, since the drugs were located in a public place, next to a dumpster. Such a situation is distinguishable from the instant case where Garcia was the sole occupant of the vehicle, and the state was entitled to a <u>Medlin</u> presumption instruction.

Goodman v. State, 839 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003), is in apparent conflict with Garcia. Goodman was a constructive possession case where Goodman denied knowledge that the cannabis was present. The First District held that this placed in dispute the essential element of knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance, as well as that of knowledge of the presence of the substance. The failure to instruct on knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance was fundamental error. The Goodman opinion contains very few facts. Moreover, the First District neglected to cite to Delva. Instead it cites Scott in support of its holding that failure to give a guilty knowledge

instruction was fundamental error in a case where the defendant "denied knowledge that the cannabis was present," and thus "placed in dispute the essential element of knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance." <u>Goodman</u>, 839 So. 2d at 903.

Although McMillon indicates that both a Chicone instruction and a Medlin instruction should be given in actual possession cases, it appears that this requirement is based on the fact that a Chicone instruction was requested. In the instant case, Garcia never requested the Chicone instruction with regard to the lesser possession count. Therefore, Garcia waived this issue for appeal. In any event, even if this Court finds that the instruction was error, it does not constitute fundamental error in this case. "An error is fundamental when it goes to the foundation of the case or the merits of the cause of action and is equivalent to a denial of due process." J.B. v. State, 705 So. 2d (Fla. 1998).

A careful analysis of the claimed error in the jury instruction, in this case, does not support a finding of fundamental error. The instructions read to the jury were sufficiently complete to properly apprise the jury of the law that should be considered in reaching a verdict. Smith v. State, 772 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). In McMillon, Justice Wells in his dissenting opinion held, as follows:

[U]nder the facts of this case, any error in failing to give the instruction was harmless. Moreover, this decision clarifies that the majority has converted <u>Chicone</u> error into per se reversible error. This could only be the situation if the <u>Chicone</u> decision is considered to have written an element into the crime. Writing of elements into crimes is for the Legislature, not this Court.

McMillon, 813 So. 2d at 59.

Here, the trial court did not commit fundamental error. See Section 893.101(Fla. Stat 2002) (Chapter 2002 258 clarifies legislative intent in light of <u>Chicone v. State</u>. The legislature finds that knowledge of the illicit nature of controlled substance is not an element of offense. knowledge is an affirmative offense. The possession of controlled substance shall give rise to a permissive presumption that possessor knew of illicit nature of the substance). See also Lee, 835 So. 2d at 1181(in light of the legislative clarification of Chicone, the Fourth District did not certify a question to the Florida Supreme Court, notwithstanding that the statute is inapplicable to offenses committed prior to effective date of legislation). But see Norman v. State, 826 So. 2d 440 1st DCA 2002)(Section 893.101(1) does not (Fla. retroactively).

There is sufficient evidence to convict Garcia of the instant crime. Any error complained of did not amount to

harmful or fundamental error. Any error did not contribute to the verdict, and there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. Accordingly any error should be considered harmless, especially in light of the conviction on the lesser possession charge, as well as the jury having been given the <u>Chicone</u> instruction on the trafficking count. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 1986).

In light of this Court's holdings in <u>Chicone</u> and <u>Scott</u>, as well as the continued viability of <u>Delva</u>², there is no fundamental error where the State properly receives a <u>Medlin</u> instruction, and the defense fails to request a <u>Chicone</u> instruction.

² See <u>Reed v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 366, 369 (Fla. 2002).

ISSUE III

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